
Penn’s Landing CAP Specialty 

Consultant RFQ Questions 
 

Branding and Wayfinding Questions 

 

1. Scope  

a. Is the total area included in this RFP 12 acres?  

 

Yes 

 

b. Does it extend along Delaware Ave to include pedestrian and vehicular off-site 

directional signs?   

 

It will include pedestrian signage at the Delaware Ave level under the CAP and along the 

corridor between the CAP and Hilton garage/Seaport Museum. 

 

c. Is the new system intended to support PennDOT needs and messaging?   

 

No 

 

d. Will signs along 95 carry any messaging related to the park?   

 

Possibly but that work is not included within this scope. 

 

2. Branding 

a. Is there an official name for the new civic space or is name development part of the 

branding or donor scope?  

 

No, there is no official name for the park at this point (though we have been referring to 

it as the Park at Penn’s Landing). Name development will be part of the branding scope.  

 

3. Signage and wayfinding 

a. Is there a need for interpretive/historic/ecological storytelling? Inscriptions in pavers?   

 

There are several existing signs that we would like to explore reincorporating into the 

new park.  Interpretive and/or ecological storytelling is also a possibility. 

 



b. Are you anticipating additions to the system to regulate ongoing Covid-19 and similar 

pop-up requirements? 

 

Please include scope for Covid-19 requirements as an additional service line item. See 

also answer to question #26.   

 

c. Is internal illumination desired/required?   

 

Unlikely, though we expect some signage to require external illumination. There is a 

lighting designer on the team, with whom the selected consultant may work.  

 

d. Is it perceived that the signage will be installed over a phased time frame?   

 

No.   

 

e. Will there be a parking consultant and/or traffic engineer?   

 

Yes, there is a parking and traffic engineer on the team.  

 

f. Concerning the retail branding and identification system - how many retail spaces are 

being anticipated? 

 

The café will be the only retail space. 

 

4. Directional system for drop-offs, public transportation, deliveries, truck marshalling 

a. Are you anticipating a need for significant support level of truck deliveries and drop-

off for events? 

 

Wayfinding related to truck deliveries and event drop-off should be included in the 

project scope, but not to any out-of-the-ordinary extent. 

 

b. Are you anticipating a need for public transportation and bicycle support? 

 

No. 

 

5. Donor recognition 

a. Have you established giving levels for donor development/recognition for interior and 

exterior applications?   

 

No. 

 



b. Will you want this design team to provide fundraising materials that illustrate donor 

opportunities?   

 

Yes. 

 

c. Are you asking the designers to design typicals for the recognition system, to be 

implemented once the fund raising is complete?   

 

Yes. 

 

6. Training materials - manual 

a. What are the anticipated training modules / content? 

 

See the answer to question #26. 

 

b. Who or what groups are intended to be trained and using this material? 

 

See the answer to question #26. 

 

7. MWDBE Participation 

a. Page 7 number 2, please explain what is being requested as part of the Firm 

employment profile. 

 

By firm employment profile, we mean the racial and gender composition of the 

company’s staff.  

8. Are there drawings or plans for the exterior project/site to help quantify the scope / 

understand the flow of traffic? Are there plans or square footage / building floors of the 

pavilion building that can be provided to help quantify the scope?   

 

See www.parkatpennslanding.com for the most current site plan.  There are no drawings or 

plans for the buildings yet, but the Pavilion will be approximately 10,000 GSF and the Café will 

be approximately 4,000 GSF. 

9. Please define “room addressing system” - does this mean room numbering and naming? 

Room numbering and naming will be included in Architect’s scope. Room signage including ADA 

compliant placards will be in the branding and wayfinding scope. 

10. For the cafe and food service signage - is the need for the menu signage to be digital or easily 

changeable? 

Please anticipate a reasonable mixture of fixed and digital signage in the Café. 

http://www.parkatpennslanding.com/


11. How many donor opportunities are there? Have any commitments been made to donors 

about recognition?   

The number of donor opportunities is still to be determined. A few commitments for on-site 

recognition have been made, but no specific details for design or scope of that recognition have 

been determined.  

12. Will the donor wall be exterior or interior? What will the capacity be? Is there any expectation 

for this to be flexible (added on to over time) or digital?   

TBD. 

13. Please confirm if including the scope and fee for the design and coordination of the physical 

prototype only (not fabrication costs) is acceptable? We would typically help estimate the 

mock-up cost and coordinate with fabrication vendors but a fabricator will have to estimate 

exact cost of the prototype based on design.   

That is acceptable. 

14. Is the preparation of PennDOT drawings in this scope? Should we include an allowance for the 

engineering fees to sign and seal the documents?   

Drawings will need to comply with PennDOT submission requirements.  Engineering will be 

handled by others already on the team. 

15. We do not work in AutoCAD - is a PDF submission monthly acceptable?   

The design team is working in AutoCAD so proposers will need to ensure they are able to work 

seamlessly with cad files from the design team and vice versa.  Working files are required in 

addition to pdf. 

16. Will all of the signage be installed in one phase or is the park and pavilion opening in various 

phases?   

See response to question 3d. 

17. What will the design presentation process and design approval process be? Will there be a 

steering committee to review and present to? How many formal presentations should be 

included?   

Presentations and approvals will be coordinated through DRWC staff and the design team.  

There may also be quarterly presentations to regulatory agencies, stakeholders and the DRWC 

Board. 



18. Our firm is WBE Certified by the Women’s Business Development Center-Midwest, a WBENC 

Regional Partner Organization. Does that meet your requirements for WBE Certification for 

this project? 

Any certification works for us.  

19. What level of public input is anticipated? 

There is an existing comprehensive public engagement process for the project as a whole. 

Respondents should not expect to conduct their own public engagement process, but should 

expect that their work will be subject to public feedback throughout the design process.  

20. Is there a preferred or target % of M/WBE participation? 

DRWC has a goal of achieving 35-40% overall participation of M/WDBE firms across all of its 

contracting.  

21. AutoCAD (v18) is not an industry standard for Graphic Design & Wayfinding. Design drawings 

are typically prepared in Adobe Illustrator / InDesign and can be saved as PDFs. Is this 

acceptable. Sign Location Plans can be prepared similarly or in AutoCAD or GIS.   

See response to question 15. 

22. Is there a not-to-exceed budget (or range) you have in mind for the design and planning of this 

project?   

No. 

23. Can DRWC clarify the reviews and approval process? Will approvals be decided solely by 

DWRC or will other stakeholder groups be involved as well?   

See response to question 17. 

24. Has DWRC identified an initial estimate for signage costs?   

No. 

25. Is "Penn’s Landing Cap and Civic Space" the final name of the park? If not, is DWRC interested 

in the consultant providing guidance and recommendations for naming options? 

See response to question 2.  

26. Under Building Signage, item 21 is listed as "Building support staff training and materials for 

operation and maintenance of signage systems" – is it correct to interpret this as the creation 



of a signage standards manual, as well as a document and/or meeting to orient the staff to its 

contents? 

A Style Guide should be included in the consultant’s scope so that clear rulesets govern 

production of future signage consistent with the overall branding strategy. 

27. We understand that this park is to have a unique identity, graphic and wayfinding system 

distinct from other DWRC sites, however should the identity share a visual relationship with 

the existing parks / areas as "one of a family"? 

We would like the graphic and wayfinding identity of the parks and public spaces on the 

waterfront to share a visual relationship with each other. However, there is not an existing 

identity standard which this park will need to meet.  

28. Will signage and maps at the Penn's Landing Cap direct to other DRWC sites, or other local 

destinations?  

Yes. 

29. Both Branding/Wayfinding/Signage Design and Building Signage identify Donor Recognition as 

key components – will this signage be related to a closed campaign, or ongoing fundraising?   

This has not yet been determined. 

30. In Branding/Wayfinding/Signage Design, item 4 notes that the pavilion café will likely be 

operated by a tenant. Under Building Signage, Item 16 identifies café/food service signage as 

one of the categories to be designed – does DWRC envision this signage as reflecting the 

graphic identity of the park or the tenant? 

Café signage will likely be a mix of tenant signage and park identity signage.  

31. Is DWRC interested in expanding the signage system to include banners or other placemaking 

additions?   

No.  

32. Has a brand identity been developed for the larger Master Plan effort that the Penn’s Landing 

Cap and Civic Space brand would need to complement?   

No. See also response to question 27.  

33. Has any research been completed as part of the Master Plan study that would help inform the 

branding effort? If not, are we correct to assume that a comprehensive research study will be 

part of the selected firm’s scope?  



We would expect a typical level of effort for the development of a new brand identity. The 

Master Plan did not include a research study for branding.  

34. Does the branding scope include the design of brand variations for additional marketing 

assets?  

Yes.  

35. As this project will have significant public impact, has a public relations firm been engaged? 

No. DRWC handles PR internally.  

36. One aspect to help us determine the options, capabilities, and quality of the final deliverables 

is finding the right production/manufacturing company. Has this provider already been 

sourced, and if so, may we know who it is?   

A provider has not been sourced.  We are open to suggestions. 

37. It is mentioned there will be a new comprehensive branding and identity for the Waterfront 

and DRWC overall. How closely will this flagship park’s brand identity direct that 

development? Should it be taken into consideration during initial brand development? 

Yes, we would like the brand development of this park to set the stage for a potential future 

comprehensive brand development process for the Waterfront and DRWC as a whole.  

38. Can you provide estimated timing to determine an appropriate consultant? 

We would like to make a decision by the end of the summer.  

39. Do the monthly progress submissions include time to present conceptual ideas, especially 

within the early months of the project?   

Bi-weekly meetings will allow for development, coordination and discussion of conceptual ideas 

with the design team. 

40. Can you provide the reporting hierarchy for the selected consultant?   

As the client, DRWC will have ultimate approval for any deliverable. The selected consultant will 

work primarily through HargreavesJones, the lead designer for the topside park improvements, 

as well as KieranTimberlake who is designing the pavilion and café buildings. Both 

HargreavesJones and KieranTimberlake are subconsultants to Pennoni, the prime consultant for 

PennDOT’s Penn’s Landing CAP and Civic Space project. 

41. Can you provide more clarity around the fee proposal breakdown? 

a. Define Basis of Design Report. Does this include the brand and identity concept work? 



Yes, along with typography, graphic standards, signage types and donor recognition 

types. 

b. Shall the coordination meetings being estimated take into account existing facilities 

and resources available to the DRWC? If so, can you please outline what those may be 

(i.e. Should we be looking into booking meeting facilities at hotels or otherwise as 

opposed to meeting in predetermined offices)? 

Meetings will take place via web conference, at consultant offices and/or at DRWC 

offices. Respondents should not assume that they have to book any outside meeting 

facilities.  

42. To outline the hourly rate schedule for additional services, can you provide an example of 

what services may be expected for us to deliver for reference?   

Respondent to define. 

43. Knowing the schedule will need to be a coordinated effort with the other consulting firms, is 

there any information we should know ahead of time or expectations they have in place for 

timing that we can adhere to?   

See RFQ.  Schedule will be developed once consultant is selected. 

44. Can you please clarify if the extent of the scope is the 11.5-acre park and pavilion, or does it 

also include any of the surrounding mix-use neighborhood (Penn’s Landing)?   

The scope is for the 11.5-acre park. It will include pedestrian signage at the Delaware Ave level 

under the CAP and along the corridor between the CAP and Hilton garage/Seaport Museum. 

45. Is the 11.5 acre park the same as the ’12-acre civic space’?   

Yes. 

46. Is there a provisional message schedule or other document that captures the extent of signage 

to be developed?  

 No. 

47. Will deliverables include Camera Ready Art (CRA) for each individual sign, or will the sign 

fabricator complete CRA based on our Typical layouts and message schedule?   

Deliverables should include CRA. 

48. Is naming included? And if so, will it be a public naming process?   



Consultant will work with the design team and DRWC. See also the response to question #2. 

49. Is messaging approach included? 

No. 

50. Can you provide a list of anticipated applications for the brand?   

The RFP is based on park and building signage as outlined in the RFQ.  No other applications are 

anticipated at this time. 

51. Can you describe the review and approvals process?   

See response to question 17. 

52. How many stakeholders/stakeholder groups are there for input, and for review and approval? 

Consultant will work with the design team and DRWC. See also the response to question #17. 

53. Is public engagement required, and if so can you provide some additional detail?   

Consultant will work with the design team and DRWC. Also see the response to question #19. 

54. What is the project delivery method?   

 

See Other Notes in the RFP. 

 

a. Is this a design-bid-build? 

Yes.  

55. Does DRWC prefer that a sign fabricator be on the consultant team?   

 

We were not anticipating that but you may propose that if you feel it is necessary. 

 

a. What disciplines should the consultant’s team cover?   

 

All landscape, architecture, engineering, and lighting will be covered by others. 

56. Can you clarify what is intended by physical mockups of all sign types? 

Mockups will be identified by the branding/wayfinding consultant with the design team but 

fabricated and furnished by the signage subcontractor 

57. What is the target budget for this project?   



That has not been defined. 

58. What is the anticipated project schedule start/end dates?   

 

See RFQ.  Schedule will be developed with selected consultant. 

 

a. How does this project relate to the Penn’s Landing development timeline? 

The two are on separate schedules.  

59. Please confirm the desire is to plan for six (6) in-person coordination meetings in the proposed 

schedule and cost.   

The RFQ asks the respondent to provide cost for six trips to New York or Philadelphia.  If the 

selected consultant is in New York or Philadelphia it is likely that there will be more than six in 

person meetings. 

60. Is there a need or desire for public engagement? 

See response to question #19. 

61. Are there existing signage design or branding guidelines/standards that need to be followed?   

No. 

62. Will design documents be made available for review? Can you provide site plans? 

 

See response to question #8 

 

63. Are directory/map designs needed as part of the wayfinding system?   

Possibly. 

64. Is there any type of in-house signage and maintenance facilities or capabilities?   

DRWC does not currently have any in-house signage fabrication or maintenance facilities.  

65. Should all reimbursable expenses be included in the cost breakdown or listed separately? 

Reimbursables can be listed as one line item, with the exception of travel which should be listed 

separately.  

66. Is there a file size limit that can be emailed? If a proposal exceeds the file size capable of being 

received, can the proposal be sent through sites like WeTransfer? 

 



The file size limit for email is 10 GB. If a proposal exceeds that size, we will accept responses 

through sites like WeTransfer, Dropbox, etc. as well. 

 

67. The design of all park program elements will need to be carefully coordinated across all 

disciplines of the design team to ensure a fully integrated system that works with the tight 

vertical constraints. 

Can you elaborate on the constraints and how this will impact the elements in this proposal?   

See information at www.parkatpennslanding.com regarding the bridge structure design. 

68. Does the Park have one name or are there multiple names and sub names?   

See response to Question #2a.  

69. Do you envision a tag line to be developed along with the name/logo?   

No.  

70. Should our effort include an exhaustive understanding of the “super brand” of the entities 

within the DRWC (e.g. parks, trails, sites owned and operated by DRWC) and how we might 

design for this project? 

Not an exhaustive effort, no. Please see response to Question 37.  

71. Who will be involved in the committee for the brand development? What levels of approval 

process might there be?   

DRWC staff, Planning Committee and Board, City liaisons and select design team members.  Also 

see response to question 17. 

72. Is community engagement part of the process for the brand development? We’ve had success 

in the past with client team assisting with canvasing relevant community groups for this 

process. Can DRWC assist? 

See response to question # 19 

73. Are there names for certain buildings and features of the park such as the water feature that 

will need to be developed?   

Not at this time but there may be in conjunction with donor recognition. 

74. Is there a launch date for the brand?   

The park is scheduled to open Fall of 2024. 

http://www.parkatpennslanding.com/


 

75. What are the deliverables/applications for the brand?   

Respondent to propose.  We do not anticipate applications other than park and building signage 

outlined in the RFP at this time. 

76. How many donor recognition sites in total will there be? For the seat wall, low walls that are 

typical design features most successful when integrated into landscape. Should we expect to 

coordinate designs with the landscape team and other disciplines?   

All donor recognition to be coordinated through HargreavesJones and KieranTimberlake for 

integration into the park and building design.  Donor recognitions sites have not yet been 

defined. 

77. At what phase is the project at for the other disciplines? Is there a projected schedule for 

those teams – architectural, landscape etc.?   

The project is still in a preliminary design phase and most consultants are just starting or just 

being brought on board so everyone will essentially be on the same schedule. 

78. Is there a separate committee for the signage than for the brand development?   

No. 

79. Will the brand be required on all signage?   

That is still to be determined. 

80. Physical mockups of all signage types as noted in your RFP (taking place BEFORE bid 

documentation) - can you confirm what you describe is for #1 below? 

1. Low cost versions done in digitally printed gator boards to simulate size, scale, 

contrast, color etc.  

Yes. 

2. Typically, at the sign fabrication phase within CA, we require the sign fabricator to 

build physical mockups for review before final production.  

Yes. 

81. Are there site plans available – we did not see completed plans of the facilities in the Master 

Plan.   

See response to question 8. 

82. What is the budget for the project?   



The budget for the entire Penn’s Landing Cap and Civic Space is approximately $225 million. 

83. Are any map creation expected to be from scratch? Is it for just the project area? Or will there 

be previously developed asset that we can utilize?   

Wayfinding maps will need to be designed by consultant if it is determined they are needed. 

84. Room Addressing system as mentioned in the building signage category – is this a unique 

numbering/alpha system within the building space to help with wayfinding (e.g. building 

wings, nodes etc.)? We typically make use of the architectural room numbers from their plans. 

See answer to question #9. 

85. Have any initial zoning documents been submitted or approved related to signage 

allowances? Is this effort related to the New York City/Philadelphia City meetings? 

No zoning documents have been submitted or approved. It is possible that some signage may 

need to go through a regulatory approval process that would include zoning and/or the 

Philadelphia Art Commission.  

86. Are there examples or links to current projects or samples of the PennDOT documentation 

process?   

 

See Other Notes in the RFP. 

87. How are you expecting this project to be phased? Can we base this and adjust using the 

following? At the same time related to the notation about percentage deliverables, can we 

“match” them up as follows?   

a. Concept (30%)   

b. Design development (60%) 

c. Construction documentation (90% and Final Design)   

d. Bid 

e. Construction administration 

There is no phasing. Follow RFQ for required milestone submissions. Concept/30% is Schematic 

Design. Construction documentation has two separate submissions (at 90% and Final Design).  

88. Regarding record drawings, we typically require the sign fabricator to provide final as builts 

record drawings at the close of the project. We expect these to include any commentary 

received during RFIs, mockups, punch list – documenting final built condition and sign 

locations. Will this be acceptable?   

No. The consultant must provide record drawings. The contractor will provide as-built drawings. 



 

89.  It was noted that AutoCAD 18 and PDF is required for monthly progress and biweekly mtgs. 

Our team is adept at design documentation especially for sign location via CAD and REVIT 

processes. Do you know if the other consultants are utilizing REVIT and if they are utilizing a 

central model approach such as BIM360?   

Consultant must be able to receive AutoCAD files as backgrounds for their design work. See 

response to question #15. REVIT is being used for the Café and Pavilion buildings only. 

 


